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Priskilly Forest

SM918300             OS 25” 1st and 2nd edition  XVI.2           Mathry
Cadw lists the former coach-house and stable - early 19C.

(The owners comment that the listing includes features/repairs done by their family in the not-too-distant past.)
17C - 18C  Owen family.

1706  George Owen  High Sheriff. Son of John Owen and his cousin Mary Owen of Trecwn. Married 1691 at Laugharne Lettice, daughter of Hugh Laugharne of Eweston. Died 1719 without issue. 

Mathry church is a 19C building  with few memorial tablets or legible headstones (12).

There is a tablet to George Owen, High Sheriff  and his brother Thomas with something about their nephew  (and heir?) Harries of Tresissyllt, Granston.

1805  John Hill Harries  High Sheriff. Son of George Harries by his wife Mary Bowen of Leweston. Married 1807 Francis Jordan, co-heiress of Neeston.

1815  520 acres of Priskilly demesne held by J.H.Harries (FJ)

1840  “The ancient mansion of the family of Harries of Priskilly Forest is now the property of John Hill Harries Esq.” (Lewis TWD quoted by FJ)

1853  “The house is of no regular order of architecture, and when the present occupier came into the possession of it, had grown much dilapidated by age. He immediately set about repairing and improving it, and it now presents the appearance of a comfortable country residence such as befits the habits and requirements of a private gentleman of fortune. It stands embosomed in wood and skirted by the Western Clwyd (sic). The grounds are extensive and, like the gardens, kept in the best possible order.” (Burke’ Visitations quoted by FJ) 

1880’s  Harries family. (Walford County Families quoted by FJ)

The grandparents of the present owner purchased the property earlier 20th Century

1990’s  Hotel,  golf club and farm,  of which some land is let off..

Visits 6th July 1999 and 8th March 2000. 

From the B4331 a metalled single-track lane goes south for several hundred metres. There are few trees in the hedges bordering fields.

100 metres with native trees on each side. Garden House, a modern house. on the right where a house is marked on the OS 25” map.

200 metres with woodland on each side. To the left a low wall: stone with a top course of vertically laid “slates”. On the right, about half way along, is an informal, wrought iron, double gate entrance. An old track goes left into a disused quarry and, to the right, a track mounts the slope, soon with the south wall of the kitchen garden on one’s right.

The rubblestone wall of the garden is substantially intact. There are some cracks and the ivy is tending to displace some of the coping; this consists of neatly cut, perhaps 60cm squares and rectangles of slate laid flat and overlapping the edge about 15cm. On parts of the wall, especially the west and north sides, the coping is more or less intact with little plant growth. Cart-width gaps have been made in the north and in the south walls; the former is filled with a length of decorative iron fencing similar to the piece on the west drive. There was an arched foot-entrance in the west wall towards the south corner. The garden contains mostly nettles and rank grass; sheep are contained here. There are no signs of garden buildings.

(photographs 11a to 11f).

The carriage drive divides. (To the right between piers to the mansion (1).)

To the left and slightly (in the past  more so) downwards a metalled lane past the east of the house, at a lower level, to the farm. This lane used itself to fork with a branch turning east and over the river. This was built up above the wet land - a high retaining wall remains in part. At some date (one guesses post-world war II) a tubular metal footbridge (6) was erected but this is now in a sad state with a third of it bottomless. The maps mark a footpath across it.  
The lane proper has the remains of a low foot gateway about 50m along on the right - a gate pier and some low wall. In the level area inside is a covered spring/well.  A little further on is a huge lime with masses of secondary growth around the trunk.  Many sycamore and beech.

(Between the piers towards the mansion and golf club) A metalled road for about 200m with dense Rhododendron (ponticum?) growth at each side with some cherry laurel and aucuba beneath a canopy of  (mostly) sycamore, some ash, one evergreen oak and one huge lime with masses of secondary growth, a little further on than the one on the lower lane.

This road passes close to the east side of the mansion into the large turning area in the centre of which is a cultivated island hedged with Lonicera nitida (2 and 3). To the left, a little further, is the coach-house/stable (4) and to the right is a high, well-made, light-coloured, stone wall (5) with well-defined courses and a slated sloping “roof” coping (also 3).

Behind the wall, in the orchard (?), are two long buildings (shown on the maps), which GH was not able to examine closely.  An entrance from outside the court-yard continues a cart-width drive between them. The right-hand one is a corrugated iron lean-to with some brick corner supports.  To the left is a substantial stone building with a doorway and a corrugated iron roof.  It is used as a store-cum-garden shed.  It may, one day, be converted into a dwelling.

The function of these buildings, with all sorts of divisions shown on the 25” maps, remains a mystery. The south and north walls of the “orchard” whose land slopes down from the south-west towards house and yard, are largely intact.  There is a retaining wall between house and “orchard” with a passage between. The south wall along the track (the west drive) which climbs behind the mansion has had a gap made near the west end and a wooden gate hung there. A little further along is a blocked foot entrance which had a brick arch. The wall ends after perhaps 30m and the south-west section, together with much of the north-west section has, at some time, been replaced with an earth bank and a row of pine trees (post-war?) running noth-south. There is a blocked-up arched foot entrance in the north-west wall (5). The inside of the “orchard” is used as a sheltered and private garden with lawns and modern plantings.

Continuing up this rough west drive, which climbs west and slightly north from a point south of the mansion .......this has been an alternative entrance of some importance. There are trees on each side, mostly ash, oak and sycamore, but near the start is beech and soon a large lime very similar to those already seen. On the south side of the track there is a raised bank and ditch with wild bushes - difficult to interpret.  There are views to the right across the parkland - now the golf course - with two fine specimen lime of similar age to the others.  The owners report that another fine specimen was blown down in the gales a few years ago.. The walled kitchen garden can be seen (7);  the trees on the maps to the west and north of it have disappeared. The manicured golf course extends over field 1501 as well as 1485 and 1489. Near the top of the straight of the west drive a gap in the hedge has been closed with two lengths of iron fencing: - one with fleur-de-lys “spears” the same as in the walled garden and one with a kink below a plain spike (8). The drive then takes a sharp turn to the SW and rises steeply towards the public road.

To the side of the mansion and more-so to the north-west there is an informal garden of lawns bordered with shrubs (9 a modern rose?) and flanked by sycamore trees.  Clearance of sycamores, rhododendron and the ivy on the walls is taking place;  the owners are anxious to conserve the stone walls.  Some new, some prefabricated, buldings have been erected on the north and west sides of this area among the trees for the golf club.  In a sheltered corner behind (ie to the south) of one of the buildings is a very fine photinia planted by the owners only about ten years ago.  If one walks out of the trees surrounding the golf-club buildings westwards the parkland with its lime trees is seen (10).

On a minor road to the north of the mansion Priskilly Lodge is marked (SM911305). It resembles no lodge; it appears to be a small-holding away from any entrance to the estate.

A field’s length SW is field gate. A track goes backwards slightly south of east along the south side of a hedge to become a lane-proper at the end of the field. 

Gazeteer entry:    

House and stables approached by carriage drive through woodland.       Gateway. Trees. Well. Walled garden and walled orchard. Parkland and informal garden. Trees.

(Private house and golf club)

Priskilly Forest had one of the few parks shown on the Colby OS map.

Of the features in the RCAMW database:

br      demolished and replaced by (now) unsafe footbridge.                      
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It is somewhat unusual that no glasshouses are shown on the OS 25” maps. 
Documents in file:

Text

OS 25” 1st edition map (2) and enlargement

OS 25” 2nd edition map (2)

Listing of house (coach-house also listed?)

17 colour photographs (GH)

Western Telegraph cutting – advertisement for golf course

(3) correspondence with owners

